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IN THE AUTUMN OF THE YEAR 1521,

SAZI ‘HUSREV-BEG,

THE NEWLY APPOINTED GOVERNOR OF THE @TTOMAN PROVINCE
OF BOSNIA, RODE AT THE HEAD OF A DETACHMENT, FRESH FROM
TSTANBUL, BOUND FOR THE PROVINCIAL TOWN OF SARAJEVO,
ON THE BANKS OF THE MILJACKA RIVER.

The appointment was a gift to the 41-year-old general from his
cousin, Sultan Suleiman 1 (“the Magnificent”), who regarded
Husrev-beg (Hoos-rev-bey; the suffix beg is an honorific, akin
to the English “Sir”) as one of his most trusted military officers
and diplomats.

The new governor likely entered Sarajevo across a stone
bridge over the Miljacka, just east of the Careva DZamija or
Sultan’s Mosque, among the first structures built by his pre-
decessor and Sarajevo’s founder, Isa-Beg Ishakovi¢ (ih-sha-ko-
vich). Creaking along behind, packed among his wagonloads
of possessions, were Husrev-beg’s many books and manu-
scripts, some of which he ultimately bequeathed to posterity. In
time, his bequest would grow into the largest library of Islamic
manuscripts and documents in the Balkans, the most extensive
collection of Ottoman manuscripts outside of Turkey and one
of the largest libraries of its kind in all of Europe.

Nearly five centuries later, in 1992, the latest in the line of
scholars to whom Husrev-beg had entrusted his legacy, Mus-
tafa Jahi¢, then director of the library, warily approached the
southern end of the landmark bridge together with a handful
of colleagues. Clutching boxes filled with the library’s pre-
cious collection literally and figuratively close to their hearts,
they calculated their chances of making it across the river
alive. In the buildings and hills around them, Serb snipers
waited to train crosshairs on anyone drifting into the exposed
thoroughfares that became known during the 1992-1995
Siege of Sarajevo as “sniper alleys.” If they made it today,
they would do it again. And again, over the next three years,
throughout the besieged city.

Jahi¢ and his colleagues were willing to take those risks to
preserve part of the surviving cultural heritage of their city
and newly declared country. Established in March 1992 fol-
lowing the breakup of multi-ethnic Yugoslavia, Bosnia-Her-
zegovina had turned almost immediately into a battlefield. In
Sarajevo, both Muslim Bosniak and Catholic Croartian popu-
lations found themselves targets of Orthodox Serb national-
ists supported by neighboring Serbia. In addition to claiming
the lives of nearly 14,000 in Sarajevo alone—35,400 of whom
were civilians—the Serb militia also systematically attacked
Bosnia’s cultural identity: by August 1992, two of Sarajevo’s
top libraries, the National Library and the Oriental Institute,
had been reduced to cinders.

Jahi¢ was determined to save Gazi Husrev-beg’s legacy from
the same fate. With the help of others who shared his devotion
to the library and commitment to Bosnia’s intellectual history,
the dedicated librarian led the spiriting of the collection from
one hidden location to another throughout the war until, in
2014, it ultimately came to rest in a brand-new and secure
building just steps away from the site of the original library
established by Gazi Husrev-beg,

This is their story: Of one man who regarded books and
knowledge as essential legacies and of another who risked his
life to preserve them both.

The year Gazi Husrev-beg took up his governor’s residence,
Sarajevo was classified in Ottoman records as a kasaba, mean-
Ing it was bigger than a village but smaller than a Seber, or city.
Founded by Ishakovi¢ around 1462, it lay within the boundar-
ies of the medieval Bosnian kingdom of Vhrbosna, conquered
by the Ottomans a decade earlier. Though well sheltered by
surrounding mountains and well watered by the Miljacka, at
the same time the city was potentially vulnerable to aggressors
who could scale those selfsame mountains encircling the valley
town. Still, its strategic location, within marching distance of
“the empire’s shifting boundaries with Venice and the Hapsburg
Monarchy,” as historian Robert J. Donia observed, made it an
increasingly important commercial, administrative and military
center for Ottoman expansion into “Rumelia”—the Balkans.

The city was named after the saraj (sar-eye), or royal
court, Ishakovi¢ erected on the south side of the river near

Opposite: Mustafa Jahié, the former Gazi Husrev-beg Library
director, led the campaign to save the library during the Siege

of Sarajevo, secretly moving thousands of books and manu-
scripts to a series of safe havens from 1992 to 1995. Here, he
contemplates that odyssey at one of those sites, the subterranean
shooting range of the city’s old fire department barracks.

Left: Sarajevans walk north across the Emperor's Bridge, the
same route Jahi¢ and his team took under the guns of snipers.
The Sultan’s Mosque, the library’s home from 1935 until 1992,
stands in the background.
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a large ovasi (oh-vah-shee), or field, and hence Sarajevo, a
Slavic contraction of Sarajovasi. The founder also built a
fortification on a rocky outcrop to the east, the city’s natu-
ral gateway where the Miljacka chisels its way through the
mountains. Crumbling remains of this stone fortress, together
with later Ottoman-era defenses, still dot the city’s forested
highlands like broken teeth.

It was Gazi Husrev-beg who would, over 20 years, help
grow Sarajevo into a Seher. It was a job the middle-aged
diplomat-general was bred
for. Born in Seres, Greece,
in 1480, Husrev-beg
was the son of the local
Ottoman governor, the
Bosnian-born Ferhad-bey,
and a Turkish mother,
Sultana Sel¢uka, daughter
of Sultan Beyazid m. His
mother’s royal connection
made him first cousin
to Sultan Suleiman the
Magnificent. During his
tenure as governor of the eyalet (province) of Bosnia—which
comprised territory roughly equivalent to today’s Bosnia and
Herzegovina—Sarajevo grew into the empire’s third largest
European city after Salonica and Edirne. The era has been
called Sarajevo’s “Golden Age.”

By way of transforming the provincial capital into an
“expression of Ottoman civilization,” as Donia put it, Hus-
rev-beg used the Empire’s basic blueprint for growth: Divide it
into residential neighborhoods, called sakalas, with a house
of worship at the center of each. Prior to Husrev-beg’s arrival,
Sarajevo had only three Muslim mahalas; under his adminis-
tration, that number increased to 50. By the early 17th century,
there were nearly a hundred, together with a small number of
Christian and Jewish mahalas in the decidedly interfaith city.

The heart of Sarajevo’s commercial and cultural activity was
the Bascarsija (bahsh-char-see-yah), or marketplace, just north
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“THAT WHICH IS WRITTEN
DOWN ENDURES, THAT WHICH

Mula-Mustafa Sevki Baseskija
Ljetopis o Sarajevu 1746-1804 (Chronicle of Sarajevof
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of the river. Both Ishakovi¢ and Husrev-beg built bezistans
(covered bazaars) here, and to this day it remains the city’s
most popular pedestrian thoroughfare. Retaining much of its
Ottoman-era flavor, the Bagcargija offers browsers everything
from Bosnian soccer jerseys to Persian carpets, as well as post-
siege novelties such as ballpoint pens fashioned from spent
bullet cartridges harvested from the streets. At five city blocks
long, Gazi Husrev-beg’s bezistan is the largest of all.

In Ottoman times, traveling merchants stayed in hams,

which were also called

- karavan-saraj (cara-
vanserai). Essentially
business hotels, they
featured central court-
yards for unloading and
stabling pack animals
and rooms above where
the merchants enjoyed
free meals and lodging
for a maximum of three
days. Many hans survive
today as restaurants,
including the colorful Morica Han—built by Husrev-beg. In
the han’s tree-shaded courtyard, tourists now sip tea or milky,
beige-colored Bosnian coffee and chat with the easygoing rug
and ceramics merchants operating out of the historic struc-
ture’s converted stables.

Most of the city’s cultural, economic and religious institu-
tions—its mahalas, mosques and hans—were supported by
charitable endowments known as vakuf, which is a Bosnian
adaptation of the Arabic wagqf. Vakufs were endowed by wealthy
patrons, many of whom were high-ranking military officers like
Husrev-beg who amassed fortunes (some might say loot) after
years of campaigning. Of all of Bosnia’s vakuf, Husrev-beg’s was
the wealthiest and most extensive. In addition to mahalas, hans
and bezistans, the governor endowed a hammam (bathhouse),
a imaret (soup kitchen), a hanigah (a Sufi study center) and
a madrasa (school) that he named Seljuklia, after his mother.
(Because its roof
was made of lead—
kursum in Turkish—
it became known
locally as KurSum-
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At the center of
it all, Husrev-beg

e erected a mosque
vad L.

Left: Beautifully bound books with embossed leather covers, dating
back several centuries, are numerous within the Gazi Husrev-beg
Library's 25,000-volume collection. At its heart are books that Gazi
Husrev-beg brought when he arrived in Sarajevo as governor of
Bosnia (today's Bosnia and Herzegovina) in 1521. Above: Lejla Gazig,
former director of Sarajevo’s Oriental Institute, watched helplessly
as its books burned after Serbian nationalists firebombed the
Institute the night of May 16, 1992. She still struggles to understand
why they attacked the library.

that now bears his
name. Elegant with
its slender minaret,
multi-domed roofline

and clock tower, it is \

the largest historical
mosque in Bosnia and
Herzegovina, reput-
ed to be the finest
example of Ottoman
Islamic architecture
in the Balkans. Rising
from the heart of the
Baséarsija, it stands as
a symbol of the city
and a focal point for
Sarajevo’s—and indeed
all of the country’s—
Muslim community,
which comprises some
40 percent of the
country’s population
today. (Orthodox
Christians follow at 31
percent; Catholics at
15 percent.)

Thus it was that
under Husrev-beg’s
governorship, Sarajevo
became an urban reflec-
tion of the governor’s belief in the enduring virtue of vakuf.

“Good deeds drive away evil, and one of the most worthy
of good deeds is the act of charity, and the most worthy act of
charity is one which lasts forever,” Husrev-beg declared in his
vakuf’s endowment charter, preserved in the archives of the
modern Gazi Husrev-beg Library.

With these principles in mind, in 1537 Husrev-beg also
decreed in the charter of the school that “whatever money
remains from the costs of construction be used to purchase
good books to be used in the said madrasa, that they be used
by those who will read them and that transcriptions be made
from them by those who are involved in study.”

Books purchased under these terms, along with manu-
scripts Husrev-beg donated, comprised the library at its found-
ing, and it grew quickly. Amid its increasingly notable collec-
tion were well-known works on philosophy, logic, philology,
history, geography, Oriental languages, belles-lettres, medicine,
veterinary sciences, mathematics, astronomy and more. Some
were donated (including entire private libraries); many more
were transcribed, per Husrev-beg’s directive, by copyists
working in the whitewashed cells of the madrasa and haniqah.
Meanwhile, just a few meters away, in Mudzeliti (moo-zhel-ee-
tee) or Bookbinders Street, what began in the 1530s as a clutch
of small bindery shops blossomed into a full-blown booksell-
er’s bazaar, reflecting Sarajevo’s growth as one of the Ottoman
empire’s most prolific literary and intellectual centers.

“In these religious complexes, rarely was it only just a
mosque. It was usually a number of buildings, and some of
them, from the very beginning, had an educational purpose,”

To the east of the new Gazi Husrev-beg Library, which opened in
2014, lies the library's first home, in the 16th-century mosque-and-
madrasa complex built by Husrev-beg. The hills surrounding the
city, which held snipers during the Siege of Sarajevo, are today a
postcard backdrop to Sarajevo’s old city.

observed Ahmed Zildzi¢, a scholar at the Bosniac Institute,

a research center for the study of Bosnia and Herzegovina’s
cultural past headquartered in the beautifully restored and
repurposed Gazi Husrev-beg hammam. “So there was either a
side-library or a little maktab (office), which is like a [Chris-
tian] Sunday school, that introduced literacy to Slavic con-
verts to Islam who then started to acquire literacy in Oriental
languages,” he said.

Taking full advantage of the Pax Ottomana’s far-flung
resources, some of these promising young scholars fanned out
across the empire to study in its famed centers of scholarship:
Istanbul, Damascus, Beirut, Cairo, Baghdad, Makkah, Madi-
nah and more. Returning to Bosnia, they brought with them
still more books and manuscripts, in Arabic, Ottoman Turk-
ish and Persian, all of which enriched the country’s literary
heritage and its libraries including Gazi Husrev-beg’s. Books
and manuscripts were also acquired through trade or were
brought back by individuals completing the Hajj, or pilgrimage
to Makkah. Many times, these imported works were translated
into Bosnian, while local scholars also began producing more
of their own uniquely Bosnian Islamic scholarship: treatis-
es and commentaries on Arabic philology, Islamic law, the
Qur’an, etc., composed in their native language. And as this
corpus grew, so too did Sarajevo’s reputation as a repository
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for Bosniak culture and “one of the most significant cultural
and scholarly centers of Rumelia,” said Zildzi¢.

Certainly, 1992 was not the first time these literary trea-
sures came under threat. Punching his way into Bosnia in
1697, Hapsburg prince Eugene of Savoy vowed to “destroy
everything with fire and sword,” including Sarajevo, unless it
surrendered. True to his word, as he recorded in his military
diary, “[wl]e let the city and the whole surrounding area go
up in flames.” These “Austrian infidels,” as one anonymous
Sarajevan reported, seemed especially bent on destroying the
city’s Islamic institutions: “[T]hey burned books and mosques,
ravaged mibrabs [prayer niches in mosques] and the beautiful
Seher-Sarajevo, from one end to the other.”

In the late 19th century, a citywide fire razed many build-
ings, and this literally cleared the way for German architects to
remake Sarajevo in the image of the Austro-Hungarian Empire
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during its roughly 33-year rule that began in 1885 under
Emperor Franz Joseph 1. (One stylistic exception to this early
modernism was the city’s Moorish Revival town hall, complet-
ed in 1894, which later became the National Library.)

More famous than burning books during this era was the as-
sassination, on June 28, 1914, at the foot of the Latin Bridge just
a few meters west of the Emperor’s Bridge, of Austria’s Archduke
Franz Ferdinand and his wife, Sophie, Duchess of Hohenberg,
The incident ignited the First World War, which ironically largely
spared Sarajevo, though the city fared less well in World War n,
when it suffered both German and Allied bombing.

Meanwhile, through it all, the Gazi Husrev-beg Library
continued to grow, to the extent that it had to move to ex-
pand, twice prior to the Second World War. The first move
was in 1863, across the street to a purposefully built room at
the base of the Gazi Husrev-beg mosque’s minaret. By 1933,

b

the library outgrew this space, too, and was relocated across
the river to a room in the basement of the mufti of Sarajevo’s
office, next to the Sultan’s Mosque. Eventually, the mufti—
the city’s foremost Islamic scholar—vacated the whole office
building to accommodate the growing collection.

By the early 1990s, the Gazi Husrev-beg Library had
become one of the most valuable in the Balkans, with some
10,000 manuscripts in Arabic, Persian, Ottoman Turkish and
Bosnian Slavic written in Arabic script, known as arebica or
aljamiado. Its oldest and most precious manuscript remains a
copy of al-Ghazali’s Thya'ulum al-din (The Revival of Religious
Sciences), produced during the author’s lifetime in 1105. An-
other treasure is the Tufhat al-abrar (The Gift to the Noble), a
didactic poem by the 15th-century classical Persian writer Nur
al-Din ‘Abd al-Rahman, penned in exceptionally beautiful cal-
ligraphy in Makkah in 1575. Also significant are the library’s
decoratively bound copies of the Qur’an, which served as
templates for copyists. Many of these beautifully produced vol-
umes, encased within embossed leather covers, featured richly
illuminated pages with calligraphy and border decorations in
azure, gold and brick-red ink.

To ferry books from one "library safe
house" to another during the siege,
Jahi¢ and his companions frequently
used banana boxes, then as now a
common method of storing and
transporting books in Sarajevo's
open-air book market.

Among its 25,000 books are
the oldest printed works (from
the mid-18th century) by some of
the most prolific Bosnian authors
writing in Oriental languages as
well as the oldest in the Bosnian
language, together with several
of the earliest books produced by
Hungarian-born Ibrahim Miite-
ferrika, who in his lifetime from
1674 to 1745 became the first
Muslim to operate a printing
press using moveable Arabic type.
The library’s periodical collection
includes Bosnia’s oldest newspa-
pers as well as nearly all Muslim
newspapers and journals, current
and historic, published in Bosnia,
including a nearly complete set of
Bosna, the eyalet’s official news-
paper from 1866-1878. In addition, there are some 5,000
Ottoman firmans (royal decrees) and berats (charters); local
sharia court registers known as sijjils; defters (tax records); as
well as photographs, leaflets and posters.

“Census books, tax books, government records: These
are indispensable sources if you want to study the history
of any religious or ethnic groups in the Balkans, not just
Muslims,” said Zildzié.

Adding to these invaluable resources, prior to the Bosnian War,
were the collections of the National Library and the University
Library of Bosnia Herzegovina, just up the river in the former city
hall, and the nearby Oriental Institute, founded in 1950. Together
these two institutions housed some two million volumes, 300,000
original documents and 5,263 codices (bound manuscript col-
lections). Along with the Gazi Husrev-beg Library, this entire,
precious cache, the body if not the soul of Bosnia’s cultural and
intellectual heritage, lay concentrated inside a few square kilome-
ters of the city, open to attack. Keenly aware of this vulnerability,
Jahi¢ preemptively moved the Gazi Husrev-beg collection from
the mufti’s offices back across the river to its original home, the
Kur§umlija, where he thought the books would be safer.
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Above: Tourist souvenirs brighten a window in a bezistan
(bazaar) shop in the Bascarsija, Sarajevo’s commercial and
cultural center. Right: Sarajevo remains a city of
bibliophiles. Here, residents and visitors browse at a
Ramadan book fair.

His decision was prescient. On the night of May
16, 1992, the attack came, within blocks of the
Sultan’s Mosque.

The firebombing of the Oriental Institute that
night was the opening salvo of a war not only against peo-
ple, but also against their very thoughts, ideas and cultural
identity. Seeking to create a unified, monoethnic state from
the rubble of post-Communist Yugoslavia, Serbian national-
ists were determined to wipe out Bosnia and Herzegovina’s
Bosniak and Croat culture.

The three-year Siege of Sarajevo was to become the longest
siege of a capital city in the history of modern warfare. Taking
up positions in its surrounding mountains, Serbs firebombed
Sarajevo night and day. During lulls in the bombing, snipers
watched and waited to pick off pedestrians who emerged from
the chaos, desperate for food, water and fuel. Signs reading
Pazite, Snajper! (“Beware, Snip-
er!”) were plastered about like
wallpaper. So willfully focused
on the eradication of culture was
the Serb aggression that philos-
ophy professors at the university
were identified as prime assas-
sination targets. So, too, were
their writings and those of their
cultural predecessors. “The Siege
of Sarajevo,” observed Bosnian
scholar Andras |. Riedlmayer a
decade after the conflict, “resulted in what may be the largest
single incident of deliberate book-burning in modern history.”

On the morning of May 17, as the Oriental Institute still
smoldered, former director Lejla Gazi¢ rushed to the scene,
hoping to salvage what she could, but firefighters blocked her.
Not only was the building unstable, but it remained a target,
as Serbs were shooting at the firefighters. Recalling that terrible
day, Gazi¢ still struggles to fathom the event.

“People kill people in wars, I understand this,” she said.
“But if you kill books, that is something you cannot imagine.
Books are a common heritage for everybody, everywhere. How
can somebody kill the books?”
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THE BOOKS LOST DURING THE
SIEGE FILLED 440 KILOMETERS OF .
SHELF SPACE—“THE LARGEST SINGLE

INCIDENT OF DELIBERATE BOOK-

BURNING IN MODERN HISTORY.”

Yet the unimaginable got even worse. Three months
later, Gazi¢ and her fellow Sarajevans again watched in
horror as, an hour after nightfall on August 25, Serb forces
immolated the National Library with a barrage of phos-
phorus bombs. As they had during the destruction of the
Oriental Institute, Serb fighters in the hills “peppered the
area around the library with machine-gun fire, trying to
prevent firemen from fighting the blaze,” according to As-
sociated Press reporter John Pomfret, who was on the scene.
Nevertheless braving the sniper fire, librarians and citizen
volunteers formed a human chain, passing what books they
could gather out of the burning building. But when the heat
exploded the structure’s slender
Moorish columns and the roof
came crashing in, it was too
late: The library’s invaluable
collection was gone.

“The sun was obscured by
the smoke of books, and all
over the city sheets of burned
paper, fragile pages of grey
ashes, floated down like a dirty
black snow,” one librarian lat-
er recalled. “Catching a page,
you could feel its heat, and for a moment read a fragment
of text in a strange kind of black and grey negative, until, as
the heat dissipated, the page melted to dust in your hand.”

Asked by Pomfret why he was risking his life against such
odds, fire brigade chief Kenan Slinié¢—“sweaty, soot-covered
and two yards from the blaze”—said, “Because I was born
here, and they are burning a part of me.”

Jahi¢ understood this intense devotion. Thirty-eight
years old at the start of the war, he had been on the job as
director of the Gazi Husrev-beg Library for five years when
the siege began. Throughout the ordeal, he dutifully made his
way back and forth every weekday between the two loves of

Strollers throng Saraci Street, a pedestrian thoroughfare in the Baséarsija that runs east-west through hundreds of years of the city’s history.
The new Gazi Husrev-beg Library, and its original location at the Kursumlija, are nearby.

his life: his wife and children, and the library. It was a peril-
ous commute. His house stood a mere 500 meters from Serb
lines, and his family was forced to hide in the basement for
most of the day. To minimize the risk of sniper fire along his
seven-kilometer journey each way, he snaked through grave-
yards, crouching for cover behind the broad, flat headstones
of the Christian sections, which provided better cover than the
slender Muslim headstones.

Committed to his job and to maintaining as normal
a life as he could under the circumstances, Jahi¢ kept the
library collection available to scholars as long as possible.
Yet he knew that the Serbs knew where it was, which is what
prompted him to move the collection in the first place. After
the destruction of the Oriental Institute and the National
Library, he knew he had to keep the collection on the move,
if it was to be spared the same fate.

“I knew that the Serbs’ agenda was to completely destroy
the cultural heritage of Bosnia,” said Jahi¢. “So in order for
the enemy not to know the location of the library, I con-
tacted friends and other librarians and had them help me
physically move the collection from one location to another
throughout the war.”

From 1992 to 1994, Jahié and his faithful, dedicated col-
leagues—including a volunteer from the library’s cleaning staff
and a night watchman—moved the collection a total of eight
times, changing locations every five to six months. For the
duration of the conflict, Jahi¢ placed the most valuable items,
such as the al-Ghazali and other rare manuscripts, in the vault
of the Privredna bank near the center of town. But the bulk
of the collection he and his colleagues carried by hand, from
place to place, usually in cardboard banana boxes, like college
students moving in and out of a dorm.

The first hiding place was the library’s original home, the
Kur$umlija. This was followed by a move next door, to the

larger, “new™ madrasa, built during the Austro-Hungarian
period. It was moving the books to these locations, back
across the river over the Emperor’s Bridge, that was one of
the most dangerous, said Jahié.

“This bridge was open to snipers up there in Trebevié,”
he said, glancing up at the rocky highland from the middle
of the bridge.

Next, an influx of refugees from the surrounding area
requiring shelter in the madrasa compelled Jahi¢ to move
the collection again, to the dank bowels of the old fire de-
partment barracks where it languished for several months in
a disused, subterranean firing range—hardly an ideal setting
for rare books. Still, Jahi¢ knew he had to use whatever
resources he could to stay one step ahead of the Serbian
militia. Two more moves followed in 1993: to the dressing
rooms of the National Theater, and then to the classrooms
of a girl’s madrasa not far from the fire department bar-
racks. All the while, Jahié was thinking even further ahead
of his enemy’s intentions.

While the library seemed to be relatively safe for the time,
he realized that it could yet go up in flames at any moment.

So to ensure its intellectual if not physical contents, he began
microfilming the entire collection. While this might sound like
a daunting project even during the best of times, Jahi¢ had

to cope with infrequent electricity, no running water for film
processing, no real proper equipment nor knowledge of how it
worked once he got it—all the while under enemy fire. A lesser
librarian might have faltered or never started. But Jahié, ener-
getic and resourceful, fully grasped what was at stake and, like
many an insurgent before him, resorted to the underground.

“We arranged to have microfilm equipment smuggled in
through the tunnel,” said Jahi¢, referring to the 700-meter,
hand-dug tunnel heneath the Sarajevo airport. During the war,
this narrow passageway, just one meter by one meter, running
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